Appeal from Intermediate Court of Appeals No. 22-ICA-201

RONALD J. HOPKINS, II, RACHEL L. ABRAMS HOPKINS, SARAH A.
ABRAMS, AND LANGHORNE ABRAMS,
Petitioners, Respondents Below

v.

MARY C. SUTPHIN,
Respondent, Petitioner Below

**PETITIONER'S BRIEF
ON APPEAL OF INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS
DECISION IN NO. 22-ICA-201**

Russell D. Jessee
(W. Va. Bar No. 10020)
russell.jessee@steptoe-johnson.com
Dallas F. Kratzer III
(W. Va. Bar No. 12350)
dallas.kratzer@steptoe-johnson.com
STEPTOE & JOHNSON PLLC
P.O. Box 1588
Charleston, WV 25326-1588
Telephone: (304) 353-8000
Facsimile: (304) 353-8180

*Counsel to Petitioners Ronald J. Hopkins,
II, Rachel L. Abrams Hopkins, Sarah A.

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

In its March 25, 2024, Memorandum Decision in No. 22-ICA-201, the Intermediate Court of Appeals (“ICA”) committed the following errors:

1. **The ICA erroneously reversed the circuit court’s dismissal of the civil conspiracy claim against Ronald J. Hopkins, II, reinstating conspiracy of as the sole claim against him, when he owes no legal duty to Mary C. Sutphin;**
2. **The ICA erroneously reinstated dismissed duplicative claims, asserted against Rachel L. Abrams Hopkins and Sarah A. Abrams, on the basis that alternative pleading is permitted, when the reinstated claims are not true alternative claims.**

II. STATEMENT OF CASE

After inheriting one-fifth of the stock of Lewis Chevrolet Company, Mary C. Sutphin (“Ms. Sutphin”), who lives in coastal North Carolina and never had any role with the Beckley car dealership, sued her family members who have run the dealership for decades. Ms. Sutphin alleged that mismanagement of the corporation has deprived her of the benefits of her stock ownership, even though she unquestionably still owns the inherited stock. Ms. Sutphin alleges that her family members breached fiduciary duties owed to the corporation and harmed the corporation, but she does not seek to recover damages for the

corporation, as in a derivative suit. Instead, Ms. Sutphin seeks personal damages that would be paid to her directly.¹

In her pursuit of personal damages, Ms. Sutphin originally joined six defendants (five family members and the corporation, itself) and asserted 16 counts in her Second Amended Complaint. The defendants moved to dismiss nearly all counts asserted against them. Pertinent to this appeal, Ronald J. “Chad” Hopkins, II (“Chad”), the dealership’s general manager, moved to dismiss all counts against him, because an employee of a corporation owes no duty to a shareholder of the corporation that could support any legal claim against him. Rachel L. Abrams Hopkins (“Rachel”) and Sarah A. Abrams (“Sarah”), directors and officers of the corporation, moved to dismiss duplicative common law counts against them as individuals, because they

¹ Although not pertinent to this appeal, it bears noting that Ms. Sutphin’s pursuit of personal damages is misguided:

It is a well-established general rule that a stockholder of a corporation has no personal right of action against directors or officers who have defrauded or mismanaged it and thus affected the value of his stock. The wrong is against the corporation and the cause of action belongs to it. Any judgment obtained by reason of such wrongs is an asset of the corporation which inures first to the benefit of creditors and secondly to stockholders.

Watson v. Button, 235 F.2d 235, 236 (9th Cir. 1956) (cleaned up), *cited with approval* by *Masinter v. WEBCO Co.*, 164 W. Va. 241, 255, 262 S.E.2d 433, 442 (1980).

could be found liable, if at all, only in their roles as directors and officers, not individually.

The circuit court granted, *inter alia*, these requested dismissals, dismissing Chad from the case completely and dismissing the duplicative common law claims against Rachel and Sarah. Ms. Sutphin appealed most aspects of the circuit court's Dismissals Order² to the ICA, even though that order neither disposed of all claims against all parties nor contained a Rule 54 certification of finality. The ICA did not set a hearing on Ms. Sutphin's appeal and issued a memorandum decision that partially reversed the circuit court's dismissals. The ICA reinstated only the civil conspiracy count against Chad and reinstated most of the common law claims against Rachel and Sarah.

Because reinstating those claims was in error, Chad, Rachel, and Sarah now appeal the ICA's decision. A full explanation of the procedural history and pertinent facts follows.

A. Ms. Sutphin's stock ownership and initial lawsuit.

1. Ms. Sutphin originally sued her brother-in-law, A. David Abrams, Jr. ("David Abrams"), in 2017 for alleged violations of his duties as trustee of

² The full title of the Dismissals Order is "Order on Motions to Dismiss by Lewis Chevrolet Company, Langhorne Abrams, and Ronald J. Hopkins, II, and Rachel L. Abrams Hopkins' and Sarah A. Abrams' Motion to Partially Dismiss Plaintiff's Second Amended Complaint and Motion for Protective Order to Stay Discovery Pending Resolution of Motions to Dismiss by Defendants Lewis Chevrolet Company, Langhorne Abrams, and Ronald J. Hopkins, II."

the Nancy Pat. H. Lewis Heirs Trust, initiating Civil Action No. 17-C-591 in the Circuit Court of Raleigh County, West Virginia. (*See* 2d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 15–17, A.R. 0163–0164).

2. The Nancy Pat. H. Lewis Heirs Trust was created by the will of Nancy Pat. H. Lewis, Ms. Sutphin’s deceased mother, and held 242 shares of Lewis Chevrolet Company (“Lewis Chevrolet” or the “Dealership”). (*See id.* ¶¶ 25, 36–39, A.R. 0165, 0170).

3. The 242 shares held by the trust were approximately three-fifths of the outstanding stock of Lewis Chevrolet. Ms. Sutphin is a one-third beneficiary of her mother’s estate and the trust. (*See id.* ¶¶ 26, 51, A.R. 0165–0166, 0172). Accordingly, following the February 2021 distribution of the trust’s 242 shares to the beneficiaries, Ms. Sutphin “owns 20.47% of the stock in the Dealership,” or approximately one-fifth of the outstanding stock. (*Id.*, Intro., A.R. 0160–0161).

B. Ms. Sutphin’s Second Amended Complaint.

4. On February 3, 2022, Ms. Sutphin filed her Second Amended Complaint in Civil Action No. 17-C-591. (*See* 2d Am. Compl., Notice of Filing, A.R. 0156). The Second Amended Complaint expanded Ms. Sutphin’s roster of defendants and claims. (*See generally id.*, A.R. 0156–0249).

5. In addition to David Abrams, Ms. Sutphin joined Rachel and Sarah, Ms. Sutphin’s nieces and directors, officers, and management

employees of the Dealership; Chad, Ms. Sutphin’s nephew-in-law, husband of Rachel, and the Dealership’s general manager; and Langhorne Abrams, Ms. Sutphin’s sister, wife of David Abrams, mother of Rachel and Sarah, and mother-in-law of Chad. (*See id.* ¶¶ 26, 28, A.R. 0165–0166).³

6. Ms. Sutphin asserted that she “has not received any benefit whatsoever from her [stock] ownership.” (*Id.*, Intro., A.R. 0160–0161). She said she was “forced to bring [her Second Amended Complaint] to compel Defendants’ compliance with basic legal duties, address Defendants’ knowing intentional, and malicious actions, and recover the legacy her mother, Nancy Pat Lewis-Smith, intended for her family.” (*Id.*). Ms. Sutphin made these allegations, even though she still owns her shares.

7. Ms. Sutphin primarily claimed that Lewis Chevrolet’s directors and officers (including Rachel and Sarah) breached their fiduciary duties to the corporation, although Ms. Sutphin seeks damages only for herself and not on behalf of the corporation. (*See id.* ¶¶ 167–195, Prayer for Relief, A.R. 0193–0199, 0215–0216). Ms. Sutphin claimed that “[a]s a direct, proximate, and

³ Ms. Sutphin also named Lewis Chevrolet, itself, as a defendant, but the circuit court dismissed it in the Dismissals Order and redesignated it as a so-called “notice defendant.” (*See* Raleigh Cty. Cir. Ct. Order 0476, A.R. 0476). Ms. Sutphin created the designation of notice defendant to describe a person or entity whose interest may be affected by her lawsuit but from whom Ms. Sutphin sought no relief. Ms. Sutphin also named other shareholders as notice defendants: the Estate of Nancy R. Smith, the Nancy R. Smith Revocable Trust, Kate Hatfield, and Ann Donegan (Haley). (*See* 2d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 8–11, A.R. 0162–0163).

foreseeable result of the Directors' and Officers' breaches of their fiduciary duties [to the corporation], **Ms. Sutphin** has suffered damages.” (*Id.* ¶ 195, A.R. 0199 (emphasis added)).

8. Ms. Sutphin asserted claims against Rachel and Sarah (and David Abrams) as directors and officers of the corporation, the “official-capacity claims”: Violations of West Virginia Business Corporations Act (Count V) and Breach of Fiduciary Duties as Directors and Officers (Count VI). (*See id.* ¶¶ 167–195, A.R. 0193–0199). Ms. Sutphin also asserted common law claims against Rachel and Sarah in their individual capacities, the “individual-capacity claims”: Conversion (Count VII), Negligence (Count VIII), Tortious Interference with Inheritance (Count X), Fraud/Constructive Fraud (Count XI), Unjust Enrichment (Count XIII), and Constructive Trust (Count XIV). (*See id.* ¶¶ 196–211, 231–244, 250–255, A.R. 199–202, 205–207, 209).

9. Although Ms. Sutphin sued Rachel and Sarah in both their official and individual capacities, both sets of claims are based on their alleged failure to uphold their duties to the corporation as its directors and officers. For example, for the official-capacity claims (*i.e.*, claims for violations of the West Virginia Business Corporation Act and breaches of fiduciary duties), Ms. Sutphin alleges that “[t]he Directors and Officers continued to operate the Dealership for their own benefit, and to the detriment of the stockholders.” (*Id.* ¶ 181, A.R. 0196; *accord id.* ¶ 194, A.R. 0199 (alleging “the Directors and

Officers breached their fiduciary duties by continuing to operate the Dealership for their own benefit” (cleaned up)). For the individual-capacity claims (*i.e.*, conversion, negligence, unjust enrichment/constructive trust), she again alleges Rachel and Sarah, as directors and officers, “continu[ed] to operate the Dealership to their own benefit.” *Id.* ¶ 204, A.R. 0201 (conversion); *accord id.* ¶¶ 210, 252, A.R. 0202, 0209 (same for negligence and unjust enrichment).

10. Ms. Sutphin claimed that Chad, the Dealership’s general manager, is among her family members who have “remained employed in key management positions” for the last decade, “despite the Dealership’s negative and/or consistently declining income.” (*Id.* ¶¶ 28(e), 104, A.R. 0167, 0181; *see also id.* ¶ 105, A.R. 0182 (alleging Chad also received benefits including a demo automobile); *id.* ¶ 227, A.R. 0204 (same).

11. Ms. Sutphin asserted six counts against Chad: claims for Tortious Interference with Inheritance (Count X); Civil Conspiracy (Count XII); Unjust Enrichment (Count XIII); and the remedies of Constructive Trust (Count XIV), Punitive Damages (Count XV), or Attorney Fees and Litigation Costs (Count XVI).⁴ (*Id.* ¶¶ 231–235, 245–279, A.R. 0205, 0208–0215).

⁴ Ms. Sutphin also joined Langhorne Abrams, her sister and an equal shareholder, and alleged the same six counts against her that Ms. Sutphin alleged

C. The pertinent Motions to Dismiss.

12. Chad, Rachel, and Sarah, as well as other defendants, moved to dismiss all or some of the claims against them. The overall basis for the defendants' motions to dismiss was that for the claims that were the subjects of the motions, none of them owed Ms. Sutphin a legal duty that would support the claims.

13. Ms. Sutphin claimed that Lewis Chevrolet's directors and officers have made decisions for the corporation that breach their fiduciary duties to the corporation. (*See generally* Hopkins's Mot. Dismiss, A.R. 0250–0262). Chad, however, never was a director or officer of the Dealership and thus owed no fiduciary duties to the corporation or derivatively to Ms. Sutphin as a minority shareholder. (*See id.* at 8, A.R. 0260).

14. While Rachel and Sarah are directors and officers of the corporation, they did not move to dismiss the claims asserted against them in those official capacities.⁵ Rather, Rachel and Sarah moved to dismiss Ms. Sutphin's duplicative common law claims that are based on their owing

against Chad Hopkins. (*See* 2d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 231–235, 245–279, A.R. 0205, 0208–0215).

⁵ Ms. Sutphin's claims against Rachel Hopkins and Sarah Abrams for violations of the West Virginia Business Corporations Act and related common law regarding fiduciary duties of directors and officers, Counts V and VI were not the subject of the motion for partial dismissal by Rachel Hopkins and Sarah Abrams. (*See* 2d Am. Compl. ¶¶ 167–189, A.R. 0193–0199).

individual duties to Ms. Sutphin, which they do not. (*See generally* Hopkins & Abrams’s Mot. Dismiss, A.R. 0263–0277). Rachel Hopkins and Sarah Abrams owe duties to the corporation and derivatively to shareholders only in their capacities as directors and officers. (*See id.* 8–9, A.R. 0274–0275).

D. Pertinent aspects of the circuit court’s Dismissals Order.

15. With its Dismissals Order, the circuit court dismissed all claims against Chad because Ms. Sutphin failed to plead that Chad, a dealership employee, could be liable to a minority shareholder. (*See* Raleigh Cty. Cir. Ct. Order, A.R. 0469–0472).

16. As to the claims against Chad, the circuit court also explained that the Second Amended Complaint failed to put Chad on notice of the conspiracy claim against him, noting that “alleging that Mr. Hopkins continued to be employed by the Dealership while the Dealership did not pay dividends is insufficient to state a claim of wrongful conduct by Mr. Hopkins.” (*Id.*, A.R. 0470 (cleaned up)). It further added that “the fact that Mr. Hopkins is married to one Defendant and is the son-in-law of other Defendants is not a sufficient basis to keep him in this lawsuit in the absence of specific allegations asserting his specific involvement in alleged wrongful actions that other Defendants may have taken.” (*Id.*, A.R. 0471 (cleaned up)).

17. The circuit court also dismissed the individual-liability conversion, negligence, unjust enrichment, and constructive trust claims

against Rachel Hopkins and Sarah Abrams, since those claims duplicated the official-capacity claims and neither of them owed individual duties to a minority shareholder.⁶ (*Id.*, A.R. 0472–0475).

18. As to the claims against Rachel and Sarah, the circuit court observed that both of them “should be dismissed in their individual capacities, because there are no allegations in those courts against them specifically that would survive or could be addressed through discovery that would hold them individual liable outside of their capacities as directors and officers of the corporation.” (*Id.*, A.R. 0474). The circuit court also dismissed the tortious inference with inheritance claim because the only transaction about which Ms. Sutphin complained should have been addressed before the County Commission. (*Id.*, A.R. 0474–0475).

E. Ms. Sutphin’s appeal to the ICA and the ICA’s decision.

19. Ms. Sutphin appealed the dismissals of all claims against Chad and the dismissals of the common law claims against Rachel and Sarah, as well as the dismissal of all claims but civil conspiracy against Langhorne Abrams. (*See generally* Notice of App., A.R. 0009–0049).⁷

⁶ The circuit court did not dismiss the fraud/constructive fraud count, reserving its rulings pending further consideration. (*See* Raleigh Cty. Cir. Ct. Order, A.R. 0477).

⁷ The circuit court order dismissed all claims against Lewis Chevrolet and Chad and left intact some claims against the remaining defendants. (*See* Raleigh Cty. Cir. Ct. Order, A.R. 0476–0477). The order was, therefore, interlocutory, and because the circuit court did not direct entry of a final judgment and determine “there is no

20. Ms. Sutphin argued to the ICA that the circuit court improperly dismissed her tortious interference with inheritance, civil conspiracy, unjust enrichment, constructive trust, punitive damages, and attorney fees and litigation cost claims against Chad. (*See* Pet'r' Br. ICA 27–30, A.R. 0082–0085).

21. Ms. Sutphin also argued to the ICA that the circuit court improperly dismissed her conversion, negligence, tortious interference with inheritance, unjust enrichment, and constructive trust claims against Rachel and Sarah. (*See id.* at 30–32, A.R. 0085–0087).

22. In their joint brief, Chad, Rachel, and Sarah explained that the circuit court properly applied the standard for dismissal and that no additional discovery could salvage the properly dismissed claims. (*See* Resp'ts' Br. ICA 19–20, A.R. 0116–0117).

23. In her reply, Ms. Sutphin insisted that her Second Amended Complaint contained factual allegations sufficient to state claims against Chad, Rachel, and Sarah, accusing the circuit court of allowing “an abuse of the civil justice system.” (*See* Pet'r's Reply Br. ICA 18, A.R. 0152).

just reason for delay,” the ICA should not have entertained Ms. Sutphin’s appeal. W. Va. R. Civ. P. 54(b). Accordingly, this Court could vacate the ICA decision on the basis that the ICA lacked jurisdiction to render the decision.

24. In a memorandum decision, the ICA affirmed in part and denied in part the appealed portions of the Dismissals Order.⁸ (*See generally* ICA Mem. Dec. 1–7, A.R. 0001–0007).

25. The ICA brought Chad back into the case, determining that the civil conspiracy claim against him could proceed because he may have conspired with other defendants. (*Id.* at 5, A.R. 0005). The ICA, however, left dismissed all other counts against Chad Hopkins. (*Id.*). The ICA determined that the civil conspiracy claim should be revived against Chad, because Ms. Sutphin alleged that “Ronald conspired with the other Respondents” and he had a “close [*i.e.*, familial] relationship with other alleged tortfeasors and [a] position in management of Lewis Chevrolet.” (*Id.*).

26. The ICA also revived the individual-capacity claims against Rachel and Sarah as permissible alternative claims. (*Id.* at 5–6, A.R. 0005–0006).⁹ The ICA left intact the dismissal of the tortious interference with inheritance claim, but it concluded that the circuit court improperly dismissed

⁸ The ICA reversed aspects of the circuit court order with a memorandum decision and without a hearing. Yet, the ICA did not explain how this case fell within the “limited circumstances” justifying reversal by a memorandum decision. W. Va. R. App. P. 21(d).

⁹ The ICA also affirmed the circuit court’s dismissal of most claims against Langhorne Abrams, although it reversed the circuit court’s dismissals as being with prejudice. (ICA Mem. Dec. 4–7, A.R. 0004–0007). None of those aspects of the ICA’s decision has been appealed.

the individual-capacity claims (*i.e.*, conversion, negligence, unjust enrichment, and constructive trust). (*Id.* at 5, A.R. 0005). Although the ICA agreed that the individual-capacity claims were “***duplicative*** of the claims ... for violations of the West Virginia Business Corporation Act and breaches of their fiduciary duties,” the ICA nevertheless decided that the claims could process as “***alternative*** legal theories.” (*Id.* (emphasis added)).

27. Chad Hopkins, Rachel Hopkins, and Sarah Abrams requested rehearing, but the ICA summarily denied that request. Order, *Sutphin v. Hopkins*, No. 22-ICA-201 (W. Va. Ct. App. May 9, 2024)). The ICA then issued its mandate on May 16, 2024. (ICA Mandate, A.R. 0008).

F. This appeal of two aspects of the ICA’s decision.

28. Chad Hopkins, Rachel Hopkins, and Sarah Abrams timely noticed this appeal to this Court on May 31, 2024.

29. Chad appeals the ICA’s reversal of the circuit court order dismissing the civil conspiracy claim against him.

30. Chad asks that this Court reverse the ICA’s decision because a civil conspiracy claim cannot stand alone as the only claim against a defendant, and Ms. Sutphin has no other substantive claim against him, nor does he owe any duty to Ms. Sutphin that would support a separate substantive claim. His familial relationship to other defendants and his employment at the family

business do not permit the inference that Chad joined a conspiracy against Ms. Sutphin or even owed any duty to her.

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