IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET NO. 24-331

SCA EFiled: Oct 28 2024
03:59PM EDT
Transaction ID 74886503

RONALD J. HOPKINS, II,
RACHEL L. ABRAMS HOPKINS,
SARAH A. ABRAMS, and
LANGHORNE ABRAMS,

Respondents Below, Petitioners,

v.

MARY C. SUTPHIN,

Petitioner Below, Respondent.

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF RALEIGH COUNTY,
WEST VIRGINIA – CIVIL ACTION NO. 17-C-591 AND
THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF
WEST VIRGINIA – NO. 22-ICA-201

RESPONDENT’S BRIEF

Joseph L. Caltrider
WVSB #6870
Liana L. Stinson
WVSB #13968
BOWLES RICE LLP
Post Office Drawer 1419
Martinsburg, West Virginia 25402-1419
(304) 264-4214
jcaltrider@bowlerice.com
lstinson@bowlesrice.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Intermediate Court of Appeals correctly reversed the Circuit Court's erroneous dismissal of Ms. Sutphin's civil conspiracy, conversion, negligence, unjust enrichment, and constructive trust claims by properly and consistently applying the Rule 12(b)(6) standards.

Contrary to the Petitioners' arguments, and the Circuit Court's rulings, "a plaintiff pleading a claim for relief need only give general notice as to the nature of his or her claim" because, "[b]efore discovery has unearthed relevant facts and evidence, it may be difficult to define the precise formulation of the required *prima facie* case in a particular case." *Mountaineer Fire & Rescue Equip., LLC v. City Nat'l Bank of W. Virginia*, 244 W. Va. 508, 521, 854 S.E.2d 870, 883 (2020) (internal citations omitted). Ms. Sutphin's detailed, 279-paragraph Second Amended Complaint clearly meets this standard. Thus, the Intermediate Court of Appeals properly recognized that Ms. Sutphin should be permitted an opportunity to conduct full discovery on her claims.

As to Ms. Sutphin's civil conspiracy claims, the Petitioners' arguments concerning legal duty fail as a matter of established West Virginia law. Under Syllabus Point #9 of *Dunn v. Rockwell*, 225 W. Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255 (2009), "liability for a tort may be imposed on people who did not actually commit a tort themselves but who shared a common plan for its commission with the actual perpetrator(s)." It is not necessary for a defendant-conspirator to owe a direct legal duty to the plaintiff to be liable for a civil conspiracy. Even if this were the law in West Virginia, the Petitioner Ronald J. Hopkins, II owed fiduciary duties to Ms. Sutphin as the general manager of Lewis Chevrolet and one of four immediate family members with total control over the company. The Petitioners' acts as individuals for their individual advantage in violation of their official obligations and fiduciary duties as officers, directors, and managers of Lewis Chevrolet create individual liability for each, as well as overarching liability for civil conspiracy.

As to Ms. Sutphin's common law claims for conversion, negligence, unjust enrichment, and constructive trust claims, the Petitioners' arguments concerning duplicate claims also fail as a matter of established West Virginia law. Rule 8(e)(2) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure specifically allows a party to "state as many separate claims ... as the party has"

regardless of the basis for those claims. Meanwhile, the doctrine of *res judicata* requires a plaintiff to assert in one action “any legal theory, cause of action, or defense which could have been asserted in that action.” *Dan Ryan Builders, Inc. v. Crystal Ridge Dev., Inc.*, 239 W. Va. 549, 560, 803 S.E.2d 519, 530 (2017). In keeping with these basic rules, several West Virginia cases recognize that an individual shareholder like Ms. Sutphin may assert multiple causes of action for oppressive conduct, breach of fiduciary duties, and corporate waste against individual corporate officers and directors like the Petitioners under circumstances very similar to those stated in Ms. Sutphin’s Second Amended Complaint.

Finally, the Petitioners’ suggestion that the Intermediate Court of Appeals lacked jurisdiction to reverse the Circuit Court’s erroneous rulings because the Circuit Court’s September 28, 2022 Order was not a “final” order fails upon inspection of the extraordinary language used by the Circuit Court. “The key to determining if an order is final is not whether the language from Rule 54(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure is included in the order, but is whether the order approximates a final order in its nature and effect.” Syllabus Point #1, in part, *State ex rel. McGraw v. Scott Runyan Pontiac-Buick, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 770, 773, 461 S.E.2d 516, 519 (1995). Here, the Circuit Court created “a final order in its nature and effect” by dismissing Ms. Sutphin’s claims “with prejudice” when this was unnecessary at the outset of the case and by specifically stating that that “this dismissal is intended to be a final ruling by the Court on all matters asserted against Mr. Hopkins.” [0477]

ARGUMENT

I. THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS CORRECTLY REVERSED THE CIRCUIT COURT'S ERRONEOUS RULE 12(b)(6) DISMISSAL OF THE RESPONDENT'S CIVIL CONSPIRACY CLAIM AGAINST THE PETITIONER TO ALLOW DEVELOPMENT OF THE RECORD THROUGH DISCOVERY.

The Petitioner, Ronald J. Hopkins, II, disputes the Intermediate Court of Appeals' decision to reverse the Circuit Court's Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal of the Respondent, Mary Charles Sutphin's, civil conspiracy claim because he believes a defendant "must be alleged to have conspired to violate some duty that he owes to the plaintiff" and he believes the allegations in Ms. Sutphin's Second Amended Complaint are not sufficient. Both arguments fail as a matter of well-established West Virginia law and proper application of the Rule 12(b)(6) standard.

A. The Petitioner Can Be Guilty Of Civil Conspiracy Under West Virginia Law Even If He Did Not Owe A Direct Legal Duty To The Respondent.

As early as 1979, this Honorable Court recognized a cause of action for civil conspiracy in *Dixon v. American Industrial Leasing Co.*, 162 W. Va. 832, 253 S.E.2d 150 (1979). The *Dixon* Court acknowledged the definition of civil conspiracy set forth in 15A C.J.S. *Conspiracy* § 1(1):

[A] civil conspiracy is a combination of two or more persons by concerted action to accomplish an unlawful purpose or to accomplish some purpose, not in itself unlawful, by unlawful means. The cause of action is not created by the conspiracy but by the wrongful acts done by the defendants to the injury of the plaintiff.

Id at 834, 152. And, the *Dixon* Court held in Syllabus Point #1, in part, that:

In order for civil conspiracy to be actionable it must be proved that the defendants have committed some wrongful act or have committed a lawful act in an unlawful manner to the injury of the plaintiff[.]

Id at 832, 151. If there were any question about civil conspiracy as a cause of action, in 1998, this Honorable Court decided *Kessel v. Leavitt*, 204 W. Va. 95, 511 S.E.2d 720 (1998). The *Kessel* Court stated unequivocally that:

The law of this State recognizes a cause of action sounding in civil conspiracy. At its most fundamental level, a “civil conspiracy” is “a combination to commit a tort.” *State ex rel. Myers v. Wood*, 154 W. Va. 431, 442, 175 S.E.2d 637, 645 (1970) (citing 15A C.J.S. *Conspiracy* § 1 (1967)).

Id at 128, 753. Neither *Dixon*, nor *Kessel*, required a defendant-conspirator to owe a direct legal duty to the plaintiff in order to be liable for civil conspiracy. The defendant-conspirator need only commit “some wrongful act or [commit] a lawful act in an unlawful manner to the injury of the plaintiff.” *Id* at 129, 754.

In 2009, this Honorable Court revisited civil conspiracy when it decided *Dunn v. Rockwell*, 225 W. Va. 43, 689 S.E.2d 255 (2009). In Syllabus Point #9, the *Dunn* Court held:

A civil conspiracy is not a *per se*, stand-alone cause of action; it is instead a legal doctrine under which **liability for a tort may be imposed on people who did not actually commit a tort themselves** but who shared a common plan for its commission with the actual perpetrator(s).

Id at 47, 259 (emphasis added). Thus, the *Dunn* Court confirmed that a defendant-conspirator, like the Petitioner, can be liable for a tort, like breach of fiduciary duty, even if he did not commit the tort, or owe the legal duty, himself, so long as he “shared a common plan for its commission with the actual perpetrator(s).” The Intermediate Court of Appeals correctly recognized this, properly concluding that, “given the specific allegation against [the Petitioner Ronald J. Hopkins, II], his close relationship with other alleged tortfeasors, and his position in management of Lewis Chevrolet, it was error for the circuit court to dismiss the civil conspiracy claim against [him]” because “the preference is to decide cases on their merits.” [0005]

The Petitioner repeatedly argues that “civil conspiracy is not a stand-alone claim” under West Virginia law and, therefore, the Circuit Court was correct to dismiss Ms. Sutphin’s civil conspiracy claim against him under Rule 12(b)(6). He trumpets this bare assertion throughout his Brief without acknowledging the complete *Dunn* holding and without citing any West Virginia

legal authority. *See* Petitioner’s Brief, pgs. 13, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 30. Instead, he cites a single California intermediate court of appeals case decided in 1996 – *Weinbaum v. Goldfarb, Whitman & Cohen*, 54 Cal. Rptr. 462, 466 (Cal. App. June 27, 1996) – for the overstated proposition that “other courts have recognized [that] a conspiracy claim ‘allows tort recovery only against a party who already owes the duty.’” *See* Petitioner’s Brief, pg. 19. *Weinbaum* is not a proper substitute for *Dunn*.

The Petitioner fails to recognize the limiting context of *Weinbaum*. *Weinbaum* was an employment case. The question was whether a defendant who did not employ the plaintiff could be sued for damages for conspiracy to wrongfully terminate the plaintiff’s employment in violation of public policy. The *Weinbaum* Court held that, “[b]ecause tort liability arising from conspiracy presupposes that the coconspirator *is legally capable of committing the tort* (because he owes a duty to the plaintiff recognized by law and is thus potentially subject to liability for a breach of that duty), we hold that a third party who is *not* (and never was) the plaintiff’s employer cannot be liable for conspiracy to wrongfully terminate the plaintiff’s employment in violation of public policy.” *Id* at 1314–15, 464 (emphasis in original). This context is markedly different than the present case.

More importantly, the Petitioner fails to acknowledge that the California Supreme Court in 1994, like the *Dunn* Court in 2009, specifically held that civil “[c]onspiracy is not a cause of action, but a **legal doctrine that imposes liability on persons who, although not actually committing a tort themselves, share with the immediate tortfeasors a common plan or design in its perpetration.**” *Applied Equip. Corp. v. Litton Saudi Arabia Ltd.*, 7 Cal. 4th 503, 510–11 (1994) (emphasis added). Thus, California law is actually consonant with West Virginia law on this critical point.

The Petitioner’s misplaced reliance on *Weinbaum* over *Dunn* and *Applied Equip. Corp.*, invites this Honorable Court to ignore the development of civil conspiracy as a cause of action in West Virginia and this Honorable Court’s specific 2009 holding in *Dunn* – “liability for a tort may be imposed on **people who did not actually commit a tort themselves** but who shared a common plan for its commission with the actual perpetrator(s).” *Dunn* supra (emphasis added). By relying upon the 1996 *Weinbaum* case from a California intermediate appellate court, instead of the 2009 *Dunn* case from the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia, the Petitioner substitutes inapposite, non-binding authority for well-settled, mandatory authority. He offers no good reason for this Honorable Court to ignore *stare decisis* and graft another state’s context-specific case into West Virginia’s well-settled general law on civil conspiracy. This Honorable Court should not accept the Petitioner’s faulty argument, especially since he never once cited *Weinbaum* before the Circuit Court or the Intermediate Court of Appeals.⁴

B. The Petitioner Owes Fiduciary Duties To The Respondent As The General Manager Of Her Car Dealership Given His Close Familial Relationship With The Officers And Directors Of The Dealership.

The Petitioner continues to argue, without any legal authority, that as a mere employee of Lewis Chevrolet he does not owe any fiduciary duties to Ms. Sutphin or the corporation’s other owners/shareholders. This argument ignores applicable West Virginia law. It also ignores the fact

⁴ “Ordinarily, a defendant who has not proffered a particular claim or defense in the trial court may not unveil it on appeal. Indeed, if any principle is settled in this jurisdiction, it is that, absent the most extraordinary circumstances, legal theories not raised properly in the lower court cannot be broached for the first time on appeal. [The Supreme Court of Appeals has] invoked this principle with a near religious fervor. This variant of the ‘raise or waive’ rule cannot be dismissed lightly as a mere technicality. The rule is founded upon important considerations of fairness, judicial economy, and practical wisdom.” *State v. Miller*, 197 W. Va. 588, 597, 476 S.E.2d 535, 544 (1996). This “raise or waive” rule applies equally in civil cases. See *State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton*, 196 W. Va. 208, 216, 470 S.E.2d 162, 170 (1996) (“To preserve an issue for appellate review, a party must articulate it with such sufficient distinctiveness to alert a circuit court to the nature of the claimed defect. The rule in West Virginia is that parties must speak clearly in the circuit court, on pain that, if they forget their lines, they will likely be bound forever to hold their peace.”).

that the Petitioner's wife (Petitioner Rachel L. Abrams Hopkins), his father-in-law (Defendant A. David Abrams, Jr.), and his sister-in-law (Petitioner Sarah A. Abrams) owe strict fiduciary duties to Ms. Sutphin, and the corporation's other shareholders, as officers and directors of the corporation.

In *Pomeroy, Inc. v. Four Jaks, Inc.*, the corporate defendant and its employee defendant, Gene Beard, similarly claimed that Mr. Beard owed no fiduciary duties to shareholders because "he was not a corporate officer or director of [the corporation][.]" *Pomeroy, Inc. v. Four Jaks, Inc.*, 11 F. App'x 275, 277 (4th Cir. 2001) (appeal from the United States District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia, at Beckley). Mr. Beard argued that the title of "vice president" was placed on his "business cards for appearances[.]" but he was "not appoint[ed] [] to be a true vice president." *Id.* Significantly for the court, Mr. Beard "admitted that he 'was the general manager and that [he] had the right to do whatever he felt was proper.'" *Id.* The court looked to the definition of a corporate officer in Black's Law Dictionary, which included:

Those persons who fill the offices which are provided for in the corporate charter such as president, treasurer, etc., *though in a broader sense the term includes vice presidents, general manager and other officials of the corporation.*

Id. (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 340 (6th ed. 1990) (emphasis added)). Based on this definition, and Mr. Beard's testimony, the Fourth Circuit held that Mr. Beard was a corporate officer regardless of title because of the extent of his authority over the corporation, which "comes with a fiduciary duty to use it for the benefit of the company." *Pomeroy*, 11 F. App'x at 277-78.

The same is true of the Petitioner in this case. The facts of his employment, as pled in Ms. Sutphin's Second Amended Complaint, are strikingly analogous to *Pomeroy*. He is employed full-time by Lewis Chevrolet as the "general manager." Although not a formal officer or director of the Dealership, he has significant authority in the Dealership, specifically: "[a]ll department

managers report to him[;]” he is “responsible for the entire sales force as well as fixed plant operations [;]” he handles all aspect[s] of advertising and does all new car orders[;] and “he maintains daily contact with Nissan.” *See* Response of Defendant A. David Abrams, Jr. to Plaintiff’s First Motion to Compel.⁵ Just like the employee in *Pomeroy*, the Petitioner cannot hide behind the lack of official labels. He has significant authority as “general manager” of the Lewis Chevrolet which “comes with a fiduciary duty to use it for the benefit of the company.” *Pomeroy*, 11 F. App'x at 278. He also has a significant relationship with the officers and directors of Lewis Chevrolet which allows him the opportunity for significant influence.

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